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INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is undisputed that the conviction of David Parse was returned by a jury
whose deliberations were contaminated by a mentally unstable juror, a suspended
lawyer who had manufactured a “totally fictitious persona” to obtain a seat on the
jury.! The government now agrees that the juror was “incapable of weighing
evidence, measuring credibility, and applying the law as instructed.”” The district
court found the juror’s misconduct so severe and her pro-government bias so
palpable that it granted a new trial to all defendants—except Parse.

By any measure, Parse was the least culpable of the convicted defendants.
The three defendants who obtained a new trial had been convicted of a total of 43
counts of conspiracy, tax evasion, and other crimes. By contrast, Parse had been
charged in only six counts, and acquitted of four of them. The district court
refused to grant Parse a new trial because it held that his lawyers knew, or should
have discovered, that the biased juror had repeatedly lied during voir dire. Even
though Parse himself knew nothing about the juror’s misconduct, the court held
that Parse’s lawyers had “waived” his constitutional right to an impartial jury.

This unjust decision violated settled legal principles, contradicted undisputed

evidence, and should be reversed.

I'SPA-44; SPA-47. “SPA” refers to the Special Appendix; “A” refers to the
Appendix and transcript page, if any.

2 (A-6087-88).
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First, as this Court has emphasized, an impartial jury is critical to our justice
system, and as essential as other structural protections that the Supreme Court has
held unwaivable. At least in the rare circumstance where a juror’s bias has been
conclusively established, the right to impartiality should not be waivable, as this
Court has said, and the Sixth Circuit has expressly held. Second, if a defendant
could consent to a fundamentally unfair trial, settled waiver principles would
require the defendant himself to provide a knowing and intelligent waiver. Yet it is
undisputed that Parse gave no such waiver here. Third, even if attorneys could
unilaterally waive their clients’ right to an impartial jury, that did not occur here.
The district court misapplied the governing legal standard and disregarded
evidence conclusively establishing that Parse’s attorneys did not know of the
juror’s misconduct until after trial. Finally, if Parse’s attorneys in fact waived his
right to a bias-free jury, his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of
counsel was violated. The district court’s refusal to find ineffective assistance was
squarely at odds with its own factual findings.

Parse is entitled to acquittal, or at least a new trial, for additional reasons.

To begin with, Parse acted in good faith at all times. This case concerns “tax
shelters” that lawyers at Jenkens & Gilchrist (“J&G”) and accountants at BDO
Seidman (“BDO”) designed and marketed. The government contended that the tax

shelters lacked “economic substance;” that legal opinion letters defending the
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shelters contained false statements; and that there were efforts to obstruct audits
and mislead the IRS.

Parse did not work on any opinion letters or audits. He had no legal or tax
expertise, and gave no tax advice. As the district court observed, Parse was “the
most unfamiliar [of the defendants] with what the tax laws were” and there was no

evidence he “had direct knowledge about it.”

He was merely one of multiple
Deutsche Bank (“D.B.”) brokers who executed financial transactions that D.B.’s
lawyers had reviewed and approved, and that J&G used to implement the tax
shelters. Parse relied in good faith on D.B.’s approval process and on the tax
experts at J&G, who repeatedly confirmed the legality of the tax shelters and
persuaded many sophisticated people that the strategies were valid.

The government’s case against Parse focused on three instances in which he
executed new transactions or rebooked earlier transactions, to correct errors J&G
had made the prior year. The government alleged that this was “fraudulent
backdating,” but, in fact, there was no backdating at all. Consistent with D.B.’s
practice, the new transactions were documented transparently to show when they
actually occurred, and explicitly referred to “as of”” dates to indicate the earlier

dates when the transactions should have occurred. Neither Parse nor anyone else

at D.B. altered or destroyed any records. There was no evidence that the

3 (A-2365/8040-41).
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transactions were unlawful, or that Parse knew they would be improperly
accounted for on tax returns. Indeed, none of the experienced tax accountants who
prepared the tax returns testified that they believed, at the time, that there was
anything improper about relying on the transactions Parse executed.

No reasonable jury could have found Parse guilty beyond a reasonable doubt
of either mail fraud or tax obstruction, the two charges of conviction. Moreover,
given the absence of evidence of criminal intent, Parse was severely prejudiced by
erroneous jury instructions that impermissibly lowered the government’s burden,
on scienter for both charges and on the statute of limitations for obstruction.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The district court had jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. §3231. Parse’s sentence
was imposed on March 22, 2013. Judgment was entered on April 11, 2013. (SPA-
73). Parse filed a timely notice of appeal on March 29, 2013. (A-6163). This
Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1291.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. When the district court grants three defendants a new trial because the
verdict is “tainted” by a biased juror who committed perjury on voir dire, yet
denies the remaining defendant a new trial on the ground that his attorneys
“waived” his right to an impartial jury, whether the judgment should be reversed

because:
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(a) The constitutional right to an impartial jury is so fundamental that it
cannot be waived; the defendant himself did not knowingly and intelligently waive
the juror’s misconduct; and his attorneys had no actual knowledge of the juror’s
perjury.

(b) If the issue is forfeiture rather than waiver, there was plain error.

(c) If the defendant’s attorneys did waive an impartial jury, he was
deprived of his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel.

2. Whether Parse is entitled to acquittal on both counts because the
evidence was insufficient.

3. Whether Parse is entitled to a new trial because of a jury instruction
that misstated the law on the “annual accounting system” in a manner that deprived
him of his good faith defense to the alleged “backdating.”

4. Whether Parse is entitled to a new trial on mail fraud because the jury
instructions erroneously permitted conviction even if he acted in good faith.

5. Whether Parse is also entitled to acquittal, or at least a new trial, on
the obstruction count because he committed no relevant acts during the limitations
period, and the jury was erroneously instructed to convict if “someone” else
committed or caused an act within the limitations period, even if Parse had no
involvement.

6. Whether the restitution order was unconstitutional.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Parse was charged with conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. §371 in
connection with J&G’s tax shelters (Count One), substantive tax evasion in
violation of 26 U.S.C. §7201 (Counts 17-19), obstruction of the IRS in violation of
26 U.S.C. §7212(a) (Count 20), and mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341
(Count 25). (A-84-139; A-155-56).

Parse was tried with J&G’s Paul Daugerdas and Donna Guerin, BDO’s
Denis Field and D.B.’s Craig Brubaker. Trial before the Honorable William H.
Pauley III commenced on March 1, 2011 and lasted 12 weeks. (A-223-2644/1-
9141). On May 25, 2011, the jury convicted Daugerdas, Guerin and Field on all
counts; acquitted Brubaker on all counts; and acquitted Parse of four counts, but
convicted him on two. (A-2647-50/9153-67).

Parse moved for acquittal after the government rested. (A-2433/8310). He
renewed the motion and moved for a new trial on June 7, 2011. (A-3021-26). The
district court never ruled on these motions.

On July 8, 2011, Parse and his remaining co-defendants moved for a new
trial or, in the alternative, for an evidentiary hearing based upon juror misconduct.
(A-4941-78). On February 15 and 16, 2012, the district court held an evidentiary
hearing. (A-5610/1-5837/380). On June 4, 2012, the district court granted a new

trial for the other defendants, but not Parse. United States v. Daugerdas, 867 F.
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Supp. 2d 445, 449 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (SPA-1) (“Daugerdas-1").

On August 7, 2012, Parse moved for a new trial based upon ineffective
assistance of trial counsel. (A-72). On January 3, 2013, the district court denied
that motion. United States v. Daugerdas, 915 F. Supp. 2d 493, 494 (S.D.N.Y.
2013) (SPA-65) (“Daugerdas-11"").

On March 22, 2013, the district court sentenced Parse to 42 months’
imprisonment, three years’ supervised release, forfeiture of $1 million, and
restitution of $115,830,267. (A-6168-73).

With the government’s acquiescence, the judge granted bail pending appeal.
(A-6158-59/25-26). This appeal followed. (A-6163).

On October 31, 2013, following their retrial, Field was acquitted on all
counts, and Daugerdas was acquitted on nine and convicted on seven counts.*

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Many tax shelters are legitimate financial investments, even though their
primary purpose is to provide tax benefits. (A-2574/8871-72). This prosecution
centered on four tax shelter strategies designed and marketed by J&G and BDO, to
take advantage of Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) loopholes so taxpayers could

claim non-economic tax losses to avoid taxes they otherwise would have owed.

(A-893-94/2183-84; A-986/2553-54; A-1038/2759-60; A-1046/2790-92).

4 Guerin pled guilty before the retrial.
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The technical details and tax theory underlying the strategies are largely
irrelevant on appeal. What is important is that the strategies were complex and
subject to expert debate, and many sophisticated people were deceived into
believing that they were legal. (E.g., A-4891; A-4874-85). J&G, a well-respected
law firm, issued tax opinions defending the transactions. (A-546/803; A-
1068/2877-79). Many other prominent firms marketed similar transactions in this
period, United States v. Coplan, 703 F.3d 46, 56 & n.8 (2d Cir. 2012), and no court
had found any J&G transaction unlawful (A-1136/3149).

2. Parse was not a lawyer and had no tax expertise. (A-770/1692). After
earning his M.B.A. in 1988, Parse became a broker, and eventually joined D.B. in
1995. (A-5932; A-1689/5350-51; A-1688-89/5347-48). The government
emphasized that Parse was a CPA for two years in the mid-1980s (A-2456/8399;
A-2460/8417; A-2555/8797), but this was irrelevant. Parse’s brief tenure doing
audit work—not tax work—occurred many years before he worked on the J&G
transactions. (A-5932; A-770/1691-92).

Parse principally provided investment management services in a
“relationship” role between customers and D.B.’s traders. (A-1600/4997; A-
1659/5231). Parse did not work on the J&G strategies until another broker who
had been implementing transactions for J&G clients became the branch manager of

Parse’s office. (A-1084/2943-44). At that point, Parse became one of several D.B.
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brokers who handled these transactions. (A-533/752-53; A-1090/2965-66).

Parse opened accounts for entities J&G formed for the strategies, executed
trades, and answered customer questions about the investment aspects. (E.g., A-
584/954-55; A-1913/6242; A-2075-76/6887-88). When Parse had substantive
communications with customers, the conversations were about financial, not tax
matters. (A-662/1265-67; see also A-770/1693-94; A-812/1856-58; A-871/2092-
93; A-885/2149-51).

Neither Parse nor D.B. provided tax advice on the shelters. D.B. required
customers to affirm that they undertook the transactions based on their “own
independent decision” and “own judgement and upon advice from such advisers as
[they] ha[ve] deemed necessary.” (A-4480; A-3420; A-3953).

Parse was also largely uninvolved in “marketing” the transactions. All but
one of the customers learned about the shelters from J&G or BDO and had no prior
relationship with Parse. The single exception occurred when Parse introduced a
customer who had been independently examining “various tax strategies” to
Daugerdas. (A-1631/5118-19).

Parse had no reason to believe the strategies were unlawful. D.B.’s top
management and lawyers had approved D.B.’s involvement. Its counsel carefully

reviewed key documents for each shelter and imposed compliance requirements on

J&G. (A-1090/2963-65; A-1114-16/3059-69; A-4892-93; A-1113/3056-57; A-
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4475-85; A-1117-18/3074-75; A-1118/3077; A-1124-25/3101-03; A-4887-88).
For example, D.B. required J&G to attest that all clients “understand the financial
and tax ramifications” and that J&G’s tax opinion would conclude that the shelter
was supported by “substantial authority.” (A-1090/2963-65; A-4886; see also A-
1124-25/3101-03; A-1128-29/3116-19; A-4476; A-4894-96; A-4887-88).

The government’s own witnesses explained how Parse and his colleagues—
like many lay clients and even other tax professionals—were misled into
concluding that the transactions were legal. J&G’s Erwin Mayer testified that
“[t]ax law is very complicated” and “there are tax results that are counterintuitive.”
(A-1062/2854; A-1065/2867). He repeatedly told clients that the tax shelters were
“perfectly proper and lawful” (A-1074/2901; see also A-1093/2976), and that “as
long as [they] want[ed] to make money,” that was “sufficient” to establish a

“business purpose” for the shelters (A-1078/2919). Mayer “persuaded” “very

99 <6 99 ¢6y

successful people,” “very smart people,” “in all areas of business,” including
“accountants,” “lawyers,” and “people in finance,” who looked at the strategies
“with great care,” that they worked and had economic substance. (A-1082-
83/2936-40).

Daugerdas similarly used his expertise to persuade clients of the shelters’

legality. (E.g., A-832-33/1938-43; A-432-33/351-55). In the fall of 1998, Parse

attended two meetings at which Daugerdas discussed the tax shelters with an

10



Case: 13-1388 Document: 65 Page: 23 11/06/2013 1086074 119

executive at Calphalon Corporation who was managing the sale of that business
and the shareholders’ efforts to dispose of the proceeds from the sale. At the first
meeting, Daugerdas explained the tax theory of one of the shelters. (A-1631/5120;
A-1654/5208-09). He “seemed very knowledgeable about the tax law” and was
“Ig]enerally” “impressive.” (A-1660/5233). At a follow-up meeting with other
former Calphalon shareholders and their personal attorneys, Parse heard a

29 ¢¢

“serious,” “careful,” “robust discussion focused on the applicable law and
regulations” among the lawyers who attended—Daugerdas, the shareholders’ tax
specialist, and Calphalon’s majority shareholder. (A-1660-61/5235-36; A-1631-
32/5121-22; A-1655/5212-14; A-1658/5224; A-1913/6241-42). Daugerdas
advised that the strategy was valid and he would issue an opinion defending it. (A-
1660-61/5235-36; A-1632/5124).

3. The government argued that the deductions J&G’s clients took based on
the shelters were invalid because the transactions lacked “economic substance” (A-
2579/8889-90) under a complex, highly fact-specific, judge-made doctrine that
“has been applied differently from circuit to circuit and sometimes inconsistently
within circuits,” and “is not a model of clarity.” Coplan, 703 F.3d at 91. There
was no evidence that anyone ever discussed economic substance concerns with

Parse, or that he was aware of debates among the tax experts.

The government also presented evidence that the J&G opinion letters

11
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contained false statements (about the taxpayers’ business purpose), and that BDO
attempted to obstruct IRS audits. (E.g., A-1781-82/5718-22; A-1788-90/5744-51).
There was no evidence that Parse was involved in preparing any opinion letter or
participated in any audit.

The government attempted to link Parse (and Brubaker) to the alleged
misrepresentations in the opinion letters by arguing that they engaged in a shelter
and “received opinion letters containing the same false representations.” (A-
2457/8406). But there was no evidence that Parse’s (or Brubaker’s) opinion
contained false statements. Parse made a profit of $16,500. (A-4757). He was
charged no fees for the opinion. (A-2096/6969; A-3594-3732).> Thus, his
transaction probably had economic substance. (See A-2579/8889-90 (jury
instructions on economic substance); cf. A-769/1687-88 (Greisman testimony that
his own shelter “possibly” worked because he paid no fees)).

The prosecution also claimed that Parse (and Brubaker) were involved in a
“coverup” by identifying so-called “dog tech” or “fallen angel” stocks to use for
the strategies, purportedly because they were less likely to draw the IRS’s

attention. (A-2465-66/8438-39). But the evidence shows only that Parse

> The government’s principal argument as to “objective” economic substance was
that J&G’s clients could not make a profit net of fees. (A-2454/8391-92).

6 Nevertheless, in January 2003, after D.B. decided to stop executing these
transactions, Parse amended his return and paid additional taxes. (A-4565-68). He
was not assessed penalties or charged with personal tax evasion.

12
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suggested investments in certain major, successful technology companies such as
Microsoft and Lucent (A-4473-74; A-1192-93/3373-77), some of which made
money (A-1195/3385; A-1196/3388). Mayer testified that: These stocks were not
necessary to the J&G strategies (A-1192/3373); taxpayers did not invest
exclusively in these stocks (A-1197/3391-93); and several taxpayers invested in
these stocks even though “there would be absolutely no [tax] reason” to do so (A-
1198-99/3395-3402). The record thus refutes the government’s “dog tech” theory.
The government also relied on one sentence of testimony regarding the
second Calphalon meeting described above.” This testimony reflects only that,
during rigorous tax discussion among the lawyers, Daugerdas said that the
transaction had some (albeit low) profit potential, that it was important for the tax
strategy that the investment have some profit potential, and therefore the taxpayers
needed to have an intent to make a profit even though they were engaging in the
strategy for tax reasons. (See A-1632/5122; A-1655/5213-14; A-1658/5224; A-
1660-61/5235-36; A-6086-87). As explained, at this meeting, Daugerdas also
advised that the shelter complied with the tax laws. In that context, the statement

would not have alerted Parse that illegal activity was afoot.

" Dean Kasperzak, a Calphalon shareholder, testified that during the meeting
Daugerdas said “that the profit potential was very low and that going forward,
should we choose to go forward, if we were questioned about the matter, that our
intent was in fact to make a profit, but in order for this tax shelter to work, there
had to be, in effect, a loss to balance off the gains from the stock sale.” (A-
1914/6244).

13
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4. The government argued that Parse engaged in “fraudulent backdating”
with respect to three groups of taxpayers, because these taxpayers’ returns
reflected corrective transactions in their brokerage accounts that occurred the
following year. But there was no evidence that Parse engaged in any “fraud” or
any “backdating.”

Parse never destroyed, falsified, modified, or whited-out any record of any
transaction. Correcting errors using “as of” dates was done in the ordinary course
of business at D.B. (A-1742/5563; A-1768/5664-65). Parse’s assistant Carrie
Yackee did “quite a bit of correcting” and “as-of transactions,” not just for tax
shelter customers, and regardless of who made the mistake. (A-1747/5582; A-
1749/5590; A-1754/5611; A-1710/5433-34; e.g., A-4463). Yackee explained: “If
we discovered an error, we would write up a ticket for that error. And I would
have the form signed by management and then explain what the error was, and
then, in turn, giv|[e] it to someone in our back office who would then correct it.”
(A-1691/5359; see also A-1747/5580-81). The corrected trade “would have a date
of when it...should have occurred. That would be the as of date.” (A-1703/5406).
Once a statement was final, no one could change it. (A-1755/5612). So the later
“as-of” transaction would be documented on the statement issued for the month in
which it actually occurred, and “the notation ‘as of” appeared on the statements and

related documents to make clear what had happened,” i.e., “[t]hat there had been a

14
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correction after the fact.” (A-1758/5626 (emphasis added)).

Yackee would get approval for correcting errors not only from Parse, but
also from Barbara Kositchek (A-1747/5580-82; A-1741/5559; A-1742-43/5563-
64; A-4547; see also A-1757/5623; A-4913), the assistant branch manager and a
“stickler” for D.B. procedures who had “a distinct role” in handling the branch’s
error corrections (A-1745/5572-73). Yackee provided Kositchek (or Peter Mott,
the branch manager (A-1746/5578)), with all the facts relating to proposed
corrections. (A-1757-58/5623-24).3

This procedure was followed for each group of taxpayers. In 2000,
members of the Aronoff family participated in J&G tax shelters through jointly
held entities; the individual family members each wished to generate a mix of
capital and ordinary losses. (Equity trades were used for capital losses, and foreign
currency trades for ordinary losses. (A-894/2186; A-897/2198)). In early 2001,
Guerin discovered that the currency and stock transactions were allocated
incorrectly among brokerage accounts for the shelters. On February 9, 2001,
Guerin faxed Parse a December 19, 2000 letter that J&G had previously sent
authorizing the relevant allocations, and a separate December 19, 2000 letter with

the corrected allocations, which Guerin said “should have been sent to you.” (A-

4500-02; A-4544; A-4545; see also A-2129/7099). Yackee, apparently at Parse’s

8 Foreign-currency trade corrections were subject to an approval process outside
Yackee’s branch. (A-1758/5624-25; A-1773/5686-87).

15
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direction, asked a colleague to rebook the prior trades to the correct accounts. (A-
4545; A-1735/5532-33; A-4449; A-1841/5952-53; A-4546; A-1734/5528-5530; A-
4457-60).

Because the D.B. records transparently and accurately reflected what
occurred, Yackee, who did not recall the transactions, could reconstruct what
happened just by examining them. (A-1768/5664). The December 2000 account
statements were unaltered, and the January/February 2001 statements show that the
corrections occurred on February 9, 2001, “as of”” the December dates. (A-4508-
12; A-4516; A-4519; A-4523; A-4530; see also A-4547; A-1735-36/5534-36
(change form reflecting both dates); A-3027-34; A-1736-37/5537-40 (trade tickets
reflecting both dates); A-1844/5965-66).

D.B.’s records were just as transparent for the other corrective transactions.
In March 2002, J&G sent D.B. a revised authorization letter for Michael Toporek’s
shelter, requesting corrections to stock and currency trades mistakenly
implemented the prior year. (A-1499-1500/4594-98; A-1498-99/4590-92; A-1501-
02/4599-4605; A-1739/5550-51; compare A-4168-70 (original authorization letter
of December 28, 2001) with A-4325-26 (revised December 28, 2001 letter faxed
on March 29, 2002)). On Parse’s instructions, Yackee requested that corrective
trades be made “as of” the December 2001 dates. (A-1739-40/5551-53; A-4450-

56). Again, the December 2001 brokerage statements were not changed, and the

16
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resulting trade confirmations and statements accurately showed that the corrective
transactions occurred on April 4, 2002 with a settlement date of April 5, 2002,
while also indicating the “as of” dates. (A-4496-98; A-4492-95; A-4161; A-4166;
A-1741/5556-57; A-4149).

Similarly, in February 2002, J&G faxed Parse letters directing that mistaken
2001 stock transactions for the Coleman and Blair taxpayers be “reversed,” with
stock transferred to other accounts, and authorizing purchases and sales of foreign
currency. (A-4499 (undated letter faxed on February 11, 2002); A-3083-84 (letter
dated December 24, 2001 and faxed on February 11, 2002); A-3085-86 (letter
dated December 28, 2001 and faxed on February 11, 2002)). Yackee emailed
other D.B. employees that “there was a mistake made...by the client,” and
requested that they implement corrective trades using “as of” dates in December
2001. (A-1710/5433-34; A-1711-12/5437-40; A-4461-62; A-4464-72). Again, the
December 2001 brokerage statements were not changed, and the February 2002
statements reflected the actual dates of the February transactions, while also noting
the “as of” dates. (A-1712/5442-43; A-1726/5497-98; A-3035; A-3076; 4503; see
also A-4913 (change form)).

Each taxpayer claimed losses arising from the corrective transactions in their
tax returns for the prior year, based on opinion letters that J&G issued with full

knowledge of all facts. Moreover, the BDO and American Express professionals

17
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who prepared the tax returns and testified knew all pertinent facts and used the
corrective transactions, apparently without qualms. (A-4513-43; A-1841-42/5954-
55; A-1505/4615-16; A-1505/4618; A-1740/5554-55; A-1503/4607-09; A-
1508/4629-30; A-4496-98; A-4549-64). Nicole Bencik, a fourth-year tax
accountant who prepared the Aronoff returns, testified that at the time of these
events, she had “no hesitation” about using the 2001 changes for the 2000 tax
returns. (A-1849/5986). Similarly, Judy Gagnon/Quedenfeld, who had over 12
years’ tax experience, was fully aware that she was relying on a transaction that
occurred in April 2002 for Toporek’s 2001 return. (See A-1490/4555-58; A-1504-
05/4613-15). Yet she was not charged with any crime or granted any form of
immunity and did not testify that she believed at the time there was anything
wrong with using the corrective transactions on the 2001 returns. °

Parse had nothing to do with these taxpayers’ returns, much less any
decisions about the use of the corrective transactions in their returns.

5. The jury deliberated over the course of nine days before reaching its
verdict. The evidence as to Parse and Brubaker was substantially similar, but for
the “backdating” allegations. The length of the deliberations, and the 42

substantive juror notes and responses leading to the mixed verdict (A-2591-

? Tellingly, the government declined to ask Robert Greisman, the cooperating BDO
partner who approved and signed the returns drafted by Bencik (A-1838/5939; A-

1845/5968; A-1847/5972; A-1848/5982), whether he believed the rebookings were
improper.

18
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2647/8938-9153), confirm that the case was very close, and suggest that the only
reason Parse was not acquitted on everything was that the jury instructions
provided for a lesser standard of scienter on some counts and with respect to the
backdating allegations.

In particular, on the eighth day of deliberations, the jury asked the court,
“Can you be guilty of Count Twenty [obstruction] and not guilty of Count One
[conspiracy]?” (A-2637-38/9118-19). The court said yes, but reminded the jury to
decide each count individually. (A-2639/9126). The jury later asked, “If the jury
is unable to reach a verdict on two defendants, will that affect the rest of the
defendants?” (A-2642/9136). The court said no. (A-2643/9139). The very next
day, the jury asked the court to “clarify” the scienter instruction on conspiracy.
(A-2646/9151-52). One hour later, the jury returned its verdict. (A-2647/9153).1°

ARGUMENT

l. PARSE IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE HIS

CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY WAS

VIOLATED

The district court found that Parse’s trial was fatally compromised by a

biased juror who made a “calculated, criminal decision to get on the jury,” and

vacated the convictions of Parse’s co-defendants. SPA-17; SPA-64. But it refused

10'(See also A-4939 (biased juror’s letter) (after “we had asked for the Judge’s
clarification of ‘willfully and ‘knowingly’, I believe, and I had to throw in the
towel [on conspiracy].... The backdating was enough for the other charges....”)).

19
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to grant Parse any relief, because his lawyers had “waived” an impartial jury since
they “knew,” or with “diligence” would have known, of the juror’s perjury and did
not timely object. SPA-55-63.

This miscarriage of justice should be reversed.

A.  The Post-Trial Proceedings

1. Procedural Background

Catherine Conrad (Juror No. 1) revealed her misconduct on May 25, 2011,
the day after the verdict, in a letter to AUSA Okula contained in an envelope
bearing a “Love” stamp, “praising the Government’s prosecution of the case.”
SPA-7; (A-4937-40). Conrad wrote that the prosecution “did an outstanding job
on behalf of Our Government,” and that she “did fight the good fight” against
acquitting Parse, but “had to throw in the towel” on the “conspiracy charge.” (A-
4939). The government waited almost one month, until June 22, 2011, to disclose
Conrad’s disturbing letter. (A-4936).

By that time, Parse’s attorneys (Brune & Richard LLP (“B&R™)) had
already filed Parse’s post-trial motions challenging the sufficiency and weight of
the evidence. These motions did not raise juror misconduct. (See A-3021-26). In
light of Conrad’s letter, however, B&R conducted a thorough investigation into her
background, and uncovered her extensive perjury. Parse and his co-defendants

moved for a new trial on July 8, 2011. (A-4941-78).
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At a conference on July 15, 2011, the government indicated that it intended
to defend the convictions nevertheless, and to pursue discovery of whether
“anybody on the defense side had any awareness” of Conrad’s misconduct and
thereby “waived” a challenge to her bias. (A-5408-09). Substantial discovery and
briefing on both the juror misconduct and waiver issues followed.

2. The District Court Correctly Found The Defendants Were
Deprived Of A Fair Trial Because Conrad Was Biased

The district court’s ruling that Conrad’s bias warranted a new trial is
incontrovertible. The government elected not to appeal that ruling and ultimately
conceded her bias. (A-6087-88 (citing SPA-44)).

Conrad’s perjury at voir dire was “breathtaking.” SPA-36. She deliberately
and repeatedly lied and misled, in order to hide “her true identity, which would
have prevented her from serving on the jury.” ld. For example, she was not a
“stay-at-home wife” whose highest level of education was a “BA.” In fact, she
was an attorney who had been indefinitely suspended by the First Department and
the Southern and Eastern Districts of New York because of chronic alcoholism
(which she also concealed from the court). SPA-3-4; SPA-7-13; (A-306/203-04;
A-5653/174-76). She concealed an extensive history of arrests, charges, and
convictions; falsely claimed to have lived in Westchester County “all [her] life” in
order to seem “more marketable as a juror;” and even lied about being a plaintiff in

a “pending” personal injury action. SPA-7-13; (A-5656/185-87; A-5647-48/151-
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53; A-5649-50/160-61). Conrad’s comprehensive disregard for the truth
demonstrated that she could “be expected to treat her responsibilities as a
juror...with equal scorn.” Dyer v. Calderon, 151 F.3d 970, 983 (9th Cir. 1998)
(Kozinski, J.) (en banc).

Moreover, Conrad’s fawning letter to Okula “indicates that [she] identified
with the Government” wholly apart from its evidence at trial. SPA-40. “Her
choice of words” in praising the prosecution’s “outstanding job on behalf of Our
Government” revealed “that Conrad saw herself not as a fact-finder, but as a
partisan for ‘Our Government.”” SPA-7; SPA-40-41; (A-4939; see also A-4939
(“(Do I smell competition for [U.S. Attorney] Mr. Bharara??—no, I could not have
said that!!)”); A-4940 (“I feel privileged to have had the opportunity to observe la
créme de la creme—KUDOS to you and your team!!!””)). Conrad’s “bias also bled
through™ in her letter’s assurance that she “did fight the good fight” against
acquitting Parse on any counts, but “had to throw in the towel” on the “conspiracy
charge” in light of the court’s scienter instruction. SPA-40.

At the evidentiary hearing, Conrad admitted her preexisting bias against the
defendants. She testified that she believed, before hearing any evidence, that the
defendants were “crooks.” She perversely concluded that “the defense counsel
would be wild to have me” on the jury if her true criminal history were known.

SPA-14; see also SPA-39-40. She also testified that she knew it was wrong to
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perjure herself but did it anyway to get on the jury. SPA-44; (A-5651/165-67; A-
5655-56/184-85; A-5656/188). A juror “who lies in order to improve his chances
of serving has too much of a stake in the matter to be considered indifferent.”
Dyer, 151 F.3d at 982.

The court found that: Conrad “has a serious mental problem” that was “[n]o
doubt...exacerbated by many years of alcohol abuse,” and “such a person has no
business sitting on a jury in judgment of others,” SPA-48; Conrad’s statements at
the hearing and in her letter demonstrated that she was “actually biased,” SPA-39-
40; Conrad’s perjury, contempt for the judicial process, and mental instability
demonstrated both implied and inferred bias, SPA-44-48; and Conrad’s presence
on the jury “tainted” the verdict, SPA-63. The court therefore granted a new trial
to Parse’s co-defendants. SPA-48.

3. Parse And His Attorneys Were Not Aware Of Conrad’s
Misconduct Until After The Trial

It was undisputed below that Parse was completely unaware of Conrad’s
lies before the verdict.!!

The evidence established conclusively that Parse’s attorneys did not know
until well after trial that Conrad had created an entirely fictitious persona for

herself during voir dire and was actually biased. As discussed below, B&R’s

' The government never challenged Parse’s affidavit, submitted in connection
with his ineffective assistance motion, attesting to his lack of knowledge during the
trial of Conrad’s misconduct. (A-5872-73).
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cursory background research turned up a suspended attorney named Catherine
Conrad before her individual voir dire, and in additional research prompted by a
puzzling jury note later in the trial. But the evidence unequivocally demonstrated
that on both occasions B&R considered and rejected the possibility that that
person could be Juror No. 1.

a. B&R concluded at voir dire that Juror No. 1 was not the
suspended attorney Catherine Conrad.

B&R received Conrad’s name before voir dire. (A-5613-14/16-17; see also
A-4985; A-4987-88). On March 1, 2011, during general voir dire of the panel,
Conrad said her father “works for DOJ across the street” as “an immigration
officer.” Daugerdas-1/SPA-4; (A-244/85). B&R’s Theresa Trzaskoma had “some
concern” about Conrad’s father’s employment with DOJ. (A-5615/23).
Accordingly, early the next morning, Trzaskoma ran a Google search for Conrad’s
name, and saw a 2010 order from the First Department suspending a Bronx
attorney named Catherine M. Conrad because of alcohol abuse. (A-5615/23-24;
A-5719/262; A-5790-91/333-34; see also A-5000-02).

The B&R attorneys then considered the possibility that the prospective juror
was the same person as the subject of the suspension order. (A-5718-19/261-62).
B&R’s jury consultant advised them that “you do not want this lady [i.e., the

suspended attorney] on your jury,” and that “if this is the same person you should
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strike her for cause” in light of her alcohol dependency. (A-5719/262).
Accordingly, B&R’s “plan was to hear from her on voir dire and find out based on
her answers to Judge Pauley whether she was the same person.” (A-5720/263; see
also A-5618/34).

Based on her answers during the individual voir dire, B&R concluded she
was not. The prospective juror testified under oath that her highest level of
education was a bachelor’s degree, and that she was a ““stay-at-home wife” who
had always lived in Westchester. The attorneys credited that sworn testimony, and
“concluded that [she] was not the same person” as the suspended attorney who
lived in the Bronx. (A-5618/34; see also A-5631/86; A-5723/266; A-5729-30/272-
73; A-5766/309). They therefore did not strike her for cause, as they would have
on their jury consultant’s advice, if they had believed she were the alcoholic,
suspended attorney Catherine Conrad. (A-5719/262).

It was reasonable for B&R to rely upon Conrad’s answers. The district
court had specifically admonished the parties not to inquire beyond the prospective
jurors’ sworn testimony. (A-208/5 (“Well, when somebody declares under
penalties of perjury that they rely on commissions for their income, I wouldn’t ask
another question beyond that.”)). Indeed, the whole point of swearing the venire is
to make their answers reliably true—as the district court itself observed below,

“[t]he sanctity of an oath is central to the sound administration of justice.”
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Daugerdas-1/SPA-1; see also SPA-63. Moreover, Conrad had the opportunity to
reveal any “sensitive or potentially embarrassing personal information”—Iike
alcohol dependency or a suspended bar license—*at sidebar,” but did not do so.
SPA-4. Furthermore, there was nothing about Conrad’s demeanor—which the trial
judge had emphasized was critical to his “job[] as the judge to make sure...we
don’t have any nuts on the jury”!>—that raised any red flags. B&R therefore
reasonably concluded that the person seated as Juror No. 1 was not suspended
attorney Catherine Conrad.

b. B&R’s view that Juror No. 1 was not the suspended
attorney did not change during trial.

During the three-month trial, Juror No. 1 did nothing to suggest she had any

bias or to call into question the veracity of her voir dire testimony. Instead, she

29 ¢¢

was “attentive,” “took a lot of notes,” and generally “seemed to be who she had

presented herself to be.” (A-5733-34/276-77; see also A-5618/35). Conrad’s letter
to the government reflects that she was quite conscious of the dutiful image that
she presented at trial. (A-4939 (referring to herself as “the nerdy person with the

99 ¢¢

‘Susan Brune’ glasses,” “always head down, taking notes!”)). B&R therefore

continued to believe that Juror No. 1 was who she claimed to be. (A-5631/86-88;

12 (A-176/42; see also id. (“A nut does not reveal his- or herself in a questionnaire.
They reveal themselves by affect, and they reveal themselves even just how they
walk into the jury box.”); A-184/12 (emphasizing “the importance that I attach to
seeing a juror’s response in open court,” and that “that perspective is probably
shared by most trial lawyers”)).
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A-5766-68/309-11; A-5783/326; A-5810-11/353-54).
C. B&R concluded again at the end of trial, after a note
from Juror No. 1, that she was not the suspended attorney
Catherine Conrad.
On May 11, 2011, after the last closing argument, the district court informed

the parties that Juror No. 1 had sent the court a note, which read in part:

Will the Court instruct the jury on respondeat superior?

The issue of vic. liab. arose in the testimonies of a few wits. wherein they
mentioned greisman, Shanbrom + Kerekes, but not specifically A Field, +
also mentioned Erwin Mayer, but not A Daug. or A Guerin.

(A-2955; A-2564/8832). The court read the note aloud, but read the delta symbols
as “defendant” without mentioning the note’s use of a symbol. (A-2564/8832).
Trzaskoma did not focus on the note that evening, or examine it. (A-5618/36; A-
5620/42). But the next morning, on May 12, 2011, she was struck by the note’s
use of specialized legal terms. (A-5620/42-43). Trzaskoma therefore reviewed
B&R’s information on Juror No. 1 in light of her voir dire, to reassess “the
possibility that this could be the same person as the suspended lawyer.” (1d.).
Trzaskoma emailed her paralegals, requesting “all of our intelligence on
juror #1, including pre-voir dire info we thought we had[.]” (A-5509; A-5619/39-
40). David Benhamou sent her a summary of Conrad’s voir dire testimony (A-
5509) and conducted a Google search, and located the First Department suspension

order and a prior order from the same disciplinary proceeding. (A-5514-18; A-
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5520). Another paralegal sent Conrad’s statement that she was a plaintiff in a
“pending” personal injury action. (A-5520).

Trzaskoma compared that information to Conrad’s individual voir dire
responses and again concluded that, “unless Conrad totally lied about her highest
level of education, it can’t be the same person as the suspended lawyer.” (A-5531-
33). The paralegals agreed. (A-5526 (“I don’t think she’s that [suspended] lawyer,
unless she blatantly omitted information during voir dire...(or was able to become
a lawyer without going to law school).”); A-5528 (“We think it’s not the same
person.”)). Consistent with the firm’s practice of recording its work product,
Trzaskoma instructed the team to retain the information. (A-5532; A-5620/44).

These exchanges took place during the course of a hectic trial day. The
parties had sorted out complex redactions to the indictment, and the district court
was delivering its instructions to the jury. (A-2566-84/8839-8912). In the midst of
these proceedings, Benhamou suggested to Trzaskoma that he run a “people
search” on Westlaw. Trzaskoma agreed. (A-5531). The jury retired to begin
deliberations. (A-2587/8921-22). Trzaskoma was preparing exhibits to be sent in
to the jury (A-5630/83; see also A-2590/8933-34; A-2591/8940), when Benhamou
emailed her a Westlaw report for the “Catherine M. Conrad” living in Bronxville,
Westchester. (A-5531-53). Benhamou wrote, “Westlaw thinks this is the same

suspended lawyer from the Bronx,” but he suggested the report might be
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“confusing two people or I picked the wrong one.” (A-5531). He pasted into his
email information he selected from the report that fit Juror No. 1°s voir dire
testimony (“If it is her[], some info:”), including an address in Bronxville. (Id.).
As discussed below, Benhamou omitted substantial information in the report that
contradicted the voir dire profile. Benhamou also included the “confusing and
maybe incorrect” information that Conrad was “[m]arried to Robert J Conrad” and
her “Head of Household” was a “Ms Edwina C Conrad.” (Id.).

Trzaskoma received this summary and the attached Westlaw report just as
the court was sending the redacted indictment, jury charge, and trial exhibits to the
jury, and addressing two jury notes. (A-2591-92/8937-42). She did not read the
Westlaw report itself, which is nearly 20 pages of condensed information, at the
time. (A-5630/83; A-5632/91; A-5535-53). But she reviewed the cover email and
data Benhamou selected that matched Conrad’s voir dire. That selected
information prompted her to respond, “Jesus. I do think that it’s her.” (A-5555;
A-5632/90-91). She asked Benhamou to “track down that lawsuit” to provide
some clarity. (A-5555; A-5623/55-56).

Later that afternoon, during a break, Trzaskoma had the opportunity to read
the Westlaw report itself. She “came to appreciate why [Benhamou] had described
the report as confusing.” (A-5622/49; see also A-5623/55-56). Benhamou’s email

describing the report omitted “a lot of really conflicting information...that did not
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jibe at all with Juror No. 1’s voir dire.” (A-5622/49).

Name and Residence: Although the search was for the Catherine M.
Conrad who had lived her “whole life” in Westchester (A-306/203),
the report included information about a “Catherine Rosa,” and listed a
“best address” in the Bronx, as well as two other addresses in the
Bronx and a third in Brooklyn. (A-5536; A-5539-45).

Age/SSNs: The report showed Catherine M. Conrad as 41 years old,
consistent with Juror No. 1’s age, but listed two different social

security numbers for the same name, one of which reflected a much
younger age. (A-5536; A-5773-74/316-17).

Family: As Benhamou noted, the report showed Conrad’s “Head of
Household” to be “Ms Edwina C Conrad.” (A-5544). But Conrad
testified that the only other “member[] of [her] household” was her
husband. (A-306/203). It also showed that the “spouse” of Catherine
M. Conrad was a “Robert J Conrad” listed as 80 years old, and thus an
unlikely spouse for a 41-year-old. (A-5621/46-47; A-5544).

Attorney License: The report showed an attorney license for the
Catherine M. Conrad who lived in the Bronx. (A-5545). But Conrad
testified that she had always lived in Westchester. (A-306/203).

Civil Lawsuit: The report listed a judgment against a Catherine
Conrad in a civil action. (A-5549). But Conrad testified that her
action was “still pending.” (A-249/105).

In light of this contradictory information, Trzaskoma concluded that the report was

conflating two different Catherine Conrads: the suspended Bronx lawyer and Juror

No. 1. (A-5631/86-87).

Nevertheless, as Trzaskoma and her partners left the courthouse at the end of

the day, she brought up the possibility that Juror No. 1 was the suspended lawyer,

in light of her jury note; she did not specifically mention the Westlaw report. (A-
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5624/58-59). The attorneys considered and rejected the possibility. Laurie
Edelstein remarked that the juror had reported being a plaintiff in a personal injury
lawsuit, at which the concepts of respondeat superior and vicarious liability could
have arisen, and that no trained lawyer could believe those concepts had any role in
the criminal trial at hand. (A-5624/60; A-5737/280). The consensus was that it
was “inconceivable” that a lawyer would commit perjury as extensive as that
required for the two individuals to be the same person. (A-5810/353; A-5738-
39/281-82).

d. Other undisputed evidence demonstrates B&R did not
know Juror No. 1 was the suspended attorney and had no
intent to sandbag the court.

B&R’s actions also conclusively establish that they did not know or believe
that Juror No. 1 had committed perjury during voir dire until after the government
disclosed her letter.

For example, during the trial and in the immediate aftermath of the
conversation among Trzaskoma, Brune and Edelstein discussed above, the B&R
lawyers had two separate conversations with Brubaker’s lawyers, confirming that
B&R had concluded Juror No. 1 was not the suspended lawyer. Trzaskoma and
Paul Schoeman had a conversation outside the courthouse. Schoeman testified that

Trzaskoma told him that “there was a person with the same name” as Juror No. 1

“who was a disbarred lawyer,” but that “it was not the same person as Juror No. 1.”
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(A-5818/361). Trzaskoma explained that “she had rejected the conclusion that
Juror No. 1 was a suspended attorney” (A-5823/366), because Conrad had testified
on voir dire that her educational background did not include law school (A-
5818/361; see also A-5439).

Brune had a similar conversation with Brubaker’s other attorney, Barry
Berke, around the same time. (A-5825/368). Berke testified that Brune told him
that B&R “had identified a person with the same name” as Juror No. 1 “who had
been a disbarred lawyer.” (A-5826/369). Berke’s view was that “that can’t be,
because she certainly isn’t a lawyer,” and Brune confirmed that Conrad had said
her highest educational background was “a BA degree.” (1d.). Berke observed,
“definitely it can’t be the same person” in light of her voir dire testimony, and
Brune confirmed, “that’s what I think as well.” (Id.; see also A-5833/376). As
Berke testified, it was “such a far-fetched idea that any citizen would come in here
and lie to be a juror.” (A-5832/375).

Moreover, when B&R filed its post-trial motion on behalf of Parse for relief
from his conviction on June 7, 2011, they sought an acquittal or a new trial based
upon the insufficiency and weight of the evidence. (A-3023). If B&R had actually
known of Conrad’s perjury and bias during trial, and had intended to gamble on the
verdict and exploit her misconduct in the event of conviction, they would have

raised the issue in that post-trial motion. If there had been a “sandbagging”
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strategy,!? that would have been the time to implement it. Yet they did not do so,
and only sought a new trial based on juror misconduct after the government
disclosed Conrad’s letter.

It was also undisputed that post-trial, B&R conducted extensive legal
research on multiple issues, but not juror misconduct. (A-5418; A-5768/311).
Parse testified in an uncontradicted affidavit that, before Conrad’s letter was
revealed, he met with B&R to discuss post-trial motions and appellate issues, and
they did not raise any juror misconduct issue. (A-5872). B&R also took no steps
to investigate Conrad before receiving the letter, because they did not believe any
juror misconduct issue existed. (A-5418; A-5768/311; A-5810-11/353-54).

Conrad’s letter, and its inclusion of a telephone number matching that of the
suspended lawyer, prompted B&R to hire an outside contractor to help it conduct a
full-bore investigation into Conrad’s background, including property records,
marriage records, criminal records, civil court files, and election records. (A-
5626/66; A-5750-51/293-94; A-5798/341; A-5747/290; see also A-4979-83). That
investigation is what conclusively linked the two Conrads. (A-5798/341).

In sum, after extensive discovery into B&R’s contemporaneous records and
correspondence, and two days of the government’s questioning of Trzaskoma,

Edelstein and Brune under oath, there was not one iota of evidence that B&R knew

13 All three B&R partners testified unequivocally that there was no such strategy.
(A-5633/95-96; A-5768/311; A-5810-11/353-54).
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that Juror No. 1 was the suspended lawyer or deliberately concealed any suspicion
of Conrad’s perjury to sandbag the court in case of a conviction.

4. The District Court’s Finding Of Waiver

The district court concluded that “the right to challenge the partiality of a
jury verdict based on a juror’s alleged misconduct during voir dire may be
waived.” Daugerdas-1/SPA-49. It also held that B&R could waive Parse’s right to
a new trial here because “a defendant can waive certain rights through the actions
of his attorneys, even if the defendant himself was unaware of the circumstances
and actions giving rise to the waiver,” and here the issue was one of “trial
management,” such that Parse was “bound by [B&R]’s actions and decisions at
trial.” SPA-50. The district court stated, ““a defendant waives his right to an
impartial jury if defense counsel were aware of the evidence giving rise to the
motion for a new trial or failed to exercise reasonable diligence in discovering that
evidence.” SPA-53. The court found that B&R had waived Parse’s right to an
impartial jury, because they had “[kJnowledge”—or rather, “believed”—that Juror
No. 1 was the suspended attorney Catherine Conrad during the trial, SPA-55, or, in
the alternative, had exercised a “glaring lack of reasonable diligence” in that

regard, SPA-60.
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B.  Parse Did Not Waive His Right To An Impartial Jury

1. The Constitutional Imperative Of Trial By An Impartial Jury
Is Not Waivable

a. A fair trial is “the most fundamental of all freedoms.” Estes v. Texas, 381
U.S. 532, 540 (1965). “One touchstone of a fair trial is an impartial trier of fact—a
jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it.”
McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 554 (1984). The
Sixth Amendment expressly guarantees the accused the right to be tried “by an
impartial jury.” U.S. Const. amend. VI (emphasis added). Trying a criminal
defendant before a biased jury thus “offend[s] the Sixth Amendment” and “violates
even the most minimal standards of due process.” United States v. Nelson, 277
F.3d 164, 206 (2d Cir. 2002).

The right to an impartial jury is one of the very few “basic fair trial rights
that can never be treated as harmless.” Gomez v. United States, 490 U.S. 858, 876
(1989). Indeed, an impartial jury is a prerequisite to treating other constitutional
errors as harmless. See Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 579 (1986) (harmless error
applies “if the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator”
(emphasis added)). Thus, a finding that a juror was biased and should have been
excused for cause automatically entitles a defendant to a new trial. See, e.g.,
United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 316-17 (2000); McDonough, 464

U.S. at 549, 556.
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An impartial jury is not just an individual right of the defendant; it is a
critical structural aspect of our criminal justice system. Accordingly, a defendant
should not be able to unilaterally dispense with it—even with full knowledge and
understanding of the consequences. This Court has stated “that the right to an
impartial fact finder might be inherently unwaivable”: “‘[A] defendant cannot
waive those rights without enforcement of which the proceedings against him
would be fundamentally unfair. Among such non-waivable rights would be the
right to be tried by an impartial tribunal....”” Nelson, 277 F.3d at 205 (quoting
United States v. Fay, 300 F.2d 345, 350-51 (2d Cir. 1962)). As Judge Kozinski has
observed, when a juror perjures herself to get on a jury, “[m]ore is at stake...than
the rights of [the defendant],” because “[a] perjured juror is as incompatible with
our truth-seeking process as a judge who accepts bribes.” Dyer, 151 F.3d at 983.

In Nelson, this Court refused to find waiver of an impartial jury, even though
the defendant and his attorney knowingly consented to the empaneling of a juror
who had “revealed actual bias in his answers during voir dire,” in order to procure
a racially mixed jury. 277 F.3d at 201-02, 204. This Court expressly rejected
waiver but limited its holding to the particular circumstances of that case, which
involved an equal protection violation. Id. at 204-06.

Similarly, in United States v. Rattenni, 480 F.2d 195, 196-97 (2d Cir. 1973),

this Court reversed a conviction where the deliberating jury was improperly
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exposed to publicity regarding the defendant’s prior convictions and indictments,
and one juror admitted to actual bias from the publicity. Justice Clark, sitting by
designation, acknowledged that Rattenni’s counsel-—who had previously learned
of the relevant publicity via a conversation “in the courtroom corridor”—was “a
little late” to express his “concern” about actual bias. Id. at 197. However, “the
crucial importance of protecting the integrity of the trial process,” id. at 198,
“controlled the outcome” in Rattenni. United States v. Dean, 647 F.2d 779, 784
(8th Cir. 1981)."

In addition, where a juror (like Conrad) is so biased that she commits perjury
to get on the jury, denying a new trial could “giv[e] the government cause to
believe that overlooking juror misconduct will preserve tainted convictions.”
United States v. Colombo, 869 F.2d 149, 152 (2d Cir. 1989). A rule precluding
waiver in these circumstances ensures that the government has the right incentive
to investigate and prosecute juror misconduct, and reduces the risk that “a juror can
commit a federal crime [i.e., perjury] in order to serve as a juror in a criminal case
and do so with no fear of sanction so long as a conviction results.” 1d.!

Echoing this Court’s approach to obvious bias, the Sixth Circuit has

14 The Eighth Circuit en banc overruled this decision. See infran.19.

15 That risk materialized here. Though the government recognized “the potential
criminal aspects” of Conrad’s perjury (A-54006), it vigorously defended her until
the district court ruled, and still has not prosecuted Conrad.
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expressly held that neither the defendant nor his counsel can waive a biased jury.
In Franklin v. Anderson, 434 F.3d 412, 427-28 (6th Cir. 2006), where a juror
reversed the presumption of innocence, the court held that “[t]here is no situation
under which the impaneling of a biased juror can be excused.” Id. (emphasis
added). The court explained: “Failure to remove biased jurors taints the entire
trial, and therefore...[the resulting] conviction must be overturned.” 1d. See also
Miller v. Webb, 385 F.3d 666, 676 (6th Cir. 2004) (granting new trial where juror’s
bias was conclusively established, without regard to what counsel or defendant
knew about the juror during the trial); Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d 453, 458-
60 (6th Cir. 2001) (same); Johnson v. Armontrout, 961 F.2d 748, 754 (8th Cir.
1992) (“When a defendant fails to object to the qualifications of a juror, he is
without remedy only if he fails to prove actual bias. If a defendant proves that
jurors were actually biased, the conviction must be set aside.”).!¢

b. The Supreme Court has held that other structural features of our judicial

16 Two other circuits have suggested that mere failure to object at the time of trial
does not waive a new trial if actual bias is later proven. See, e.g., Rogersv.
McMullen, 673 F.2d 1185, 1190 (11th Cir. 1982) (where defendant “raises a
challenge to the competence or impartiality of a juror on Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendment grounds only after the verdict is returned...he must be afforded the
opportunity to demonstrate that the juror was actually biased or incompetent, that
is, that the juror was not ‘capable and willing to decide the case solely on the facts
before (him)’” (emphasis added)); Vanderwater v. Hatch, 835 F.2d 239, 244 (10th
Cir. 1987) (“Subject to exceptions when the conduct alleged clearly affects the
fundamental fairness of the proceedings, an objection alleging juror misconduct
may be rejected if not raised in a timely manner.” (emphasis added)).
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system may not be waived, either at all or unilaterally. For example, trial by jury is
“the preferable mode” of fact-finding “in criminal cases.” Patton v. United States,
281 U.S. 276, 312 (1930); see U.S. Const. Art. III, sec. 2 (“The Trial of all
Crimes...shall be by Jury”). Accordingly, all parties and the court must consent to
a bench trial. Singer v. United States, 380 U.S. 24, 25-38 (1965). Likewise,
having 12 jurors is essential to the “phrase ‘trial by jury’” in the Constitution, so all
parties and the court must consent to trial by fewer than 12. Patton, 281 U.S. at
288, 312.

Additionally, the valid appointment of the presiding judicial officer is so
fundamental that parties cannot waive it. In Freytag v. Commissioner, 501 U.S.
868 (1991), the Court held that litigants’ consent to appear before a judicial officer
did not bar their later challenge to his authority. 1d. at 878-79 (considering
Appointments Clause argument); see also The Glidden Co. v. Zdanok, 370 U.S.
530, 535-36 (1962) (Appointments Clause objection to judicial officers is
unwaivable).

Trial by an impartial jury is surely as fundamental to our judicial system as
having 12 jurors, or ensuring that the presiding officer is appointed in conformity
with the Constitution. See Nelson, 277 F.3d at 209 (relying in part on Freytag and
Glidden in finding juror bias unwaivable).

c. In concluding that a criminal defendant may waive “the partiality of a
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jury verdict,” the district court mistakenly relied on dicta in a footnote in the
Supreme Court’s decision in McDonough, a civil case.!” See Daugerdas-1/SPA-
49. Unlike this case, McDonough did not involve an actually biased juror who
committed perjury to serve on the jury, rendering a criminal trial fundamentally
unfair. The plaintiffs in McDonough filed a post-trial motion alleging that their
right to exercise a peremptory challenge was violated by a juror’s failure to
respond affirmatively to a voir dire question asking whether any prospective jurors
or members of their families had sustained “injuries...that resulted in any disability
or prolonged pain or suffering.” 464 U.S. at 555. The juror apparently believed
that his son’s broken leg from an exploding tire was not such an injury, and the
Court found that this sort of “mistaken, though honest response to a question” was
not a basis to re-do the trial. Id. Rather, a new trial was necessary only if the
juror’s failure to disclose the information denied plaintiffs their right to an
impartial jury. ld. at 549; see also id. at 556.

In the footnote, the Court observed: ‘It is not clear...whether the
information [about the juror] was known to [plaintiffs] or their counsel at the time

of the voir dire examination. If it were, of course, [plaintiffs] would be barred

17 The other juror misconduct cases the district court cited for the proposition that
an impartial jury is waivable are from other circuits, with the exception of one
irrelevant summary order by this Court involving a sleeping juror. Many of the
cited cases do not even involve proven bias. The district court ignored Nelson,
even though Parse raised it (A-5597/11), and the government addressed it at length
in opposition (A-5582-84).
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from later challenging the composition of the jury when they had chosen not to
interrogate [the juror] further upon receiving an answer which they thought to be
factually incorrect.” Id. at 550 n.2. The Court did not consider whether a new trial
is necessary where there is a judicial finding that a juror was actually biased and
committed serial perjury to get on a criminal jury.

This Court has never interpreted the McDonough footnote to preclude relief
for a criminal defendant whose verdict was tainted by a biased juror. On the
contrary, this Court applied the McDonough holding to grant a new trial in Nelson,
even though the defendant and his counsel there “expressly consented” to the
district court’s seating of a biased juror. 277 F.3d at 201, 204. Moreover, as noted
above, other circuits have either held or suggested, post-McDonough, that a new
trial always must be granted if juror bias is established.

d. To justify holding the right to an impartial jury waivable, the district
court cited the need to deter “sandbagging.” Daugerdas-I/SPA-50-53. But there is
no real-world scenario in which a reasonable attorney or defendant would pursue
such a course of action, nor would it be compatible with an attorney’s role as an
officer of the court. Indeed, keeping juror fraud secret violates an attorney’s
ethical obligations and subjects her to disciplinary action, see N.Y. R. of Prof’]
Conduct 3.3(b); id. 8.4(a)—a rather extreme risk for an attorney to take just for the

prospect of what might be, at best, a retrial. It is thus not surprising that here the
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evidence conclusively demonstrates that B&R never had any intent to hijack the
trial in this manner. As the Supreme Court explained in responding to a similar
argument: “If there is a lawyer who would deliberately forgo objection now
because he perceives some slightly expanded chance to argue for ‘plain error’
later, we suspect that, like the unicorn, he finds his home in the imagination, not
the courtroom.” Henderson v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 1122, 1129 (2013).1®
k  k ok

After extensive post-trial proceedings, the district court concluded, based on
largely uncontroverted facts, that a juror at Parse’s trial was biased against the
defendants and “ha[d] no business sitting on a jury in judgment of others.”
Daugerdas-1/SPA-48. The trial was so unfair that the court vacated the verdicts of
the other three convicted defendants, even though the trial “spanned three months
and included 9,200 pages of testimony from forty-one witnesses.” SPA-2. Yet
only Parse—the least culpable of these defendants—was denied his right to a fair
trial. If ever there were a case in which waiver would be so unjust that it should

not be permitted, this is it. The retrial demonstrated the importance of an impartial

18 Even if “sandbagging” were a real-world concern here, the need to deter it would
not outweigh the constitutional imperative to ensure that no verdict is tainted by a
biased juror. The Supreme Court has expressly permitted similar tactics in a
related context. See Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. at 315 (defendant who makes for-
cause challenge and has remaining peremptory challenges has “the option of letting
[a biased juror] sit on the petit jury and, upon conviction, pursuing a Sixth
Amendment challenge on appeal”).
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jury: the defendants who were retried were acquitted of the majority of the counts
against them. Parse too has a right to be tried by an impartial jury. The ruling
below gravely undermines the integrity of his conviction and creates a serious
miscarriage of justice. It should be reversed.

2. If An Impartial Jury Can Ever Be Waived, The Waiver Must Be
Knowing, Intelligent, And Personal

Even if a defendant could waive his right to an impartial jury under some
circumstances, such a waiver would require that the defendant himself deliberately
and knowingly relinquish that fundamental right. Because Parse was unaware of
Conrad’s perjury and actual bias until after the trial, he did not waive his
constitutional right to a fair trial.

It is well settled that waiver of trial rights “not only must be voluntary but
must be knowing, intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant
circumstances and likely consequences.” Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742,
748 (1970); Patton, 281 U.S. at 312 (requiring “express and intelligent consent of
the defendant” to waive 12-person jury).

Only the defendant himself could validly waive his right to a jury free from
actual bias. “For certain fundamental rights, the defendant must personally make
an informed waiver.” New York v. Hill, 528 U.S. 110, 114 (2000) (citing, as
examples, Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 304, 464-65 (1938), involving right to

counsel, and Brookhart v. Janis, 384 U.S. 1, 7 (1966), regarding right to trial). For
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most other rights, waiver may be by “action of counsel.” Id. The dividing line is
between “basic rights,” which the attorney cannot waive “without the fully
informed and publicly acknowledged consent of the client,” and matters relating to
the “manage[ment]” and “conduct of the trial,” over which the attorney has “full
authority.” Gonzalez v. United States, 553 U.S. 242, 248 (2008).

The issue of whether to allow a biased, flagrant perjurer to sit in judgment of
a criminal defendant is not, as the district court suggested, about trial management
or tactics. See 553 U.S. at 248-49 (trial management comprises issues like “what

99 ¢¢

arguments to pursue,” “what evidentiary objections to raise,” and “what
agreements to conclude regarding the admission of evidence”). It is one of those
few “basic trial choices [that] are so important that an attorney must seek the
client’s consent in order to waive the right.” Id. at 250-51 (identifying as examples
the choices “to plead guilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, or take
an appeal”). That is because the right to an impartial jury is a fundamental aspect
of both the right to a jury and the right to a trial, each of which must be personally
waived by the defendant. See Brady, 397 U.S. at 748 (guilty plea requires
“defendant’s consent that judgment of conviction may be entered without a trial”
and is “a waiver of his right to trial before a jury or a judge” (emphasis added));

Brookhart, 384 U.S. at 7 (no waiver where “petitioner himself did not intelligently

and knowingly agree to be tried in a proceeding which was the equivalent of a
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guilty plea” (emphasis added)); Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S.
269, 275 (1942) (“an accused, in the exercise of a free and intelligent choice, and
with the considered approval of the court, may waive trial by jury” (emphasis
added)).

A biased juror “is a juror in name only...a mere pretense and sham.” Clark
v. United States, 289 U.S. 1, 11 (1933); see also Armontrout, 961 F.2d at 755
(“Trying a defendant before a biased juror is akin to providing him no trial at all.”);
Dyer, 151 F.3d at 983 (“[A] juror who lies his way into the jury room is not really
a juror at all.”). Accordingly, a jury that includes a person like Conrad is not really
a jury at all, and any waiver must be by the defendant himself.

This Court has not squarely addressed whether, assuming the right to an
impartial jury could ever be waived, defense counsel has authority to waive it on
the defendant’s behalf. The Sixth and Eighth Circuits agree that defense counsel
cannot do so. For example, in Hughes, the Sixth Circuit granted a habeas petition
where defendant’s trial counsel had failed to strike a juror who admitted bias on
voir dire. 258 F.3d at 460. The court held counsel’s failure to strike that juror
unconstitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel, explaining: “The question of
whether to seat a biased juror is not a discretionary or strategic decision,” because
“[t]he seating of a biased juror who should have been dismissed for cause requires

reversal of the conviction.” ld. at 463. Moreover, “[i]f counsel’s decision not to
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challenge a biased venireperson could constitute sound trial strategy, then sound
trial strategy would include counsel’s decision to waive, in effect, a criminal
defendant’s right to an impartial jury.” Id. And because defense counsel cannot
waive the right to trial by jury “‘without the fully informed and publicly
acknowledged consent of the client,” then counsel cannot so waive a criminal
defendant’s basic Sixth Amendment right to trial by an impartial jury.” 1d. (citing
Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 417 n.24 (1988)) (emphasis added); see also
Miller, 385 F.3d at 675-76 (“whether to seat a biased juror cannot be a
discretionary or strategic decision,” because “there is no sound trial strategy that
could support what is essentially a waiver of a defendant’s basic Sixth Amendment
right to trial by an impartial jury”); Armontrout, 961 F.2d at 754-55 (granting
habeas petition where “two members of the jury were actually biased against”
defendant, and trial counsel “made no attempt to remove [those] jurors for cause

even though he was prompted to do so by [defendant] himself”)."

19 Whereas the Sixth Circuit precludes even waiver by the defendant himself, the
Eighth Circuit enforces only a defendant’s personal and knowing waiver of actual
bias. See United States v. Caldwell, 83 F.3d 954, 956 (8th Cir. 1996) (where
defendant himself learned during trial that a juror had said “all four of
them’s...guilty,” defendant waived a new trial); United States v. Dean, 667 F.2d
729, 730-31 (8th Cir. 1982) (en banc) (“[T]he appellant, by not bringing his
knowledge of possible juror bias to the attention of the district court judge prior to
the jury’s rendition of its verdict, waived his right to a new trial based on such
juror bias.” (emphasis added)).
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3. Even If Counsel Could Waive A Client’s Right To An Impartial
Jury, B&R Did Not Waive Parse’s Rights

Even assuming B&R could waive Parse’s rights, the district court’s analysis
was fatally flawed because the court applied the wrong waiver standard. The court
should have examined whether Parse’s counsel had actual knowledge of Conrad’s
misconduct during the trial. Instead, the judge incorrectly found waiver in light of
what (in its view) the attorneys merely “believed;” his concerns about how they
conducted the post-trial motion; and what they should have known with
“reasonable diligence.” Daugerdas-1/SPA-55; SPA-60. And the district court
compounded these legal errors flatly ignoring conclusive proof that at the time of
the trial, B&R believed Juror No. 1 was not the suspended attorney Catherine
Conrad. Accordingly, the decision below should be reversed even if B&R could
unilaterally waive Parse’s constitutional rights.

a. The district court erroneously treated mere belief as
actual knowledge.

The district court said that it found B&R knew during the trial that Conrad
was the suspended attorney. See SPA-55-59 (discussing B&R’s “Knowledge™).
However, on closer examination, apart from the court’s improper use of the firm’s
post-trial advocacy, see infra pp.55-57, its analysis erroneously focused on what
B&R tentatively believed (briefly, before they concluded that Juror No. 1 was not

the suspended attorney), rather than what they actually knew.
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This is apparent from the very first sentence of the section entitled
“Knowledge”: “[CJounsel for Parse believed that Juror No. 1 was the suspended
New York attorney named Catherine M. Conrad.” SPA-55 (emphasis added). The
principal evidence that the court cited was Trzaskoma’s email stating “Jesus. I do
think that it’s her,” in response to paralegal Benhamou’s email about the Westlaw
report after the jury note. The district court said that statement was a “vivid
declaration that Juror No. 1 was suspended attorney Catherine M. Conrad,” and
thus a declaration of Trzaskoma’s “knowledge.” SPA-55-56. But on its face the
statement is nothing of the kind. Rather, it describes what Trzaskoma believed at
that moment. The court itself elsewhere referred to the very same statement as a
“vivid affirmation of belief.” SPA-58 (emphasis added); see also SPA-59 n.11
(finding “that Trzaskoma believed [that Juror No. 1 lied]” (emphasis added)).

Similarly, the district court concluded, “[o]ther [B&R] lawyers
acknowledged that Trzaskoma had drawn a strong link between the Catherine M.
Conrad described in the 2010 Suspension Order and the Catherine M. Conrad
seated as Juror No. 1.” SPA-56 (citing emails sent at the end of the trial about
discovery of suspension order months earlier). But a “strong link™ is not actual
knowledge, and the cited emails reflect nothing more than Trzaskoma’s
consideration during voir dire of the possibility that the two Conrads were the same

person. Elsewhere in the “Knowledge” discussion, the court’s language reflects a
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state of mind far less certain than actual knowledge. See SPA-57 (prior to voir
dire, Trzaskoma “possessed information indicating that a ‘Catherine M. Conrad’
was a suspended attorney”).

The standard is knowledge, not mere tentative belief. In order to
“intentional[ly] relinquish[] or abandon[]” a “known right,” Zerbst, 304 U.S. at
464, one must deliberately and knowingly choose to give up the right. Parse’s
attorneys could not waive his right to trial by an impartial jury unless they knew
there was a biased juror—or at least that one of the jurors was actually a disbarred
attorney who misrepresented her identity under oath and could be biased.?

Authorities addressing juror misconduct in other contexts similarly require
actual knowledge of misconduct, not mere belief. For example, the rules of
professional ethics impose a duty on lawyers to report only known juror
misconduct. See N.Y. R. of Prof’l Conduct 3.5(d) (“A lawyer shall reveal
promptly to the court improper conduct by a member of the venire or a juror...of
which the lawyer has knowledge.” (emphasis added)); id. 1.0(k) (“*Knowingly,’

‘known,” ‘know,’ or ‘knows’ denotes actual knowledge of the fact in question.”).

20 The out-of-circuit cases the district court cited to conclude that the right to an
unbiased jury can be waived involved knowing waivers. See United States v. Breit,
712 F.2d 81, 83 (4th Cir. 1983) (“the evidence establishes beyond a reasonable
doubt that Breit knew before the verdict the critical information” regarding jurors’
potential prejudice); Gray v. Hutto, 648 F.2d 210, 211 (4th Cir. 1981) (finding
waiver because defense counsel was told of the information regarding potential
bias); United States v. Bolinger, 837 F.2d 436, 439 (11th Cir. 1988) (per curiam)
(same).
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Accordingly, in an analogous context, this Court has held that lawyers cannot be
disciplined for their awareness of a witness’s perjury unless they had “actual
knowledge that [the] witness committed a fraud on the court.” Doe v. Fed.
Grievance Comm., 847 F.2d 57, 63 (2d Cir. 1988). In Doe, this Court held that
even belief rising to the level of a strong suspicion does not establish actual
knowledge; an attorney is not obliged to reveal a witness’s perjury unless he has
“actual knowledge” that the witness lied under oath. 1d. The attorney in question
had been told by his client that the witness had lied under oath in a deposition and
“believed that [the] witness had lied at the deposition” because of “inconsistencies”
between his testimony and other evidence. 1d. at 58-60 (emphasis added). Though
these beliefs may have caused the attorney to “suspect strongly that witness lied,
they did not amount to actual knowledge that witness committed a fraud on the
court.” Id. at 63.

Doe is consistent with the well-established principle that the knowledge
element in criminal statutes implies a “much higher degree of certainty” than mere
“belief.” United States v. Golomb, 811 F.2d 787, 792 (2d Cir. 1987); see LaFave
& Scott, Criminal Law §3.7(f) (2d ed. 1986) (“‘[K]nowledge’ and the knowing-
type of ‘intention’ require a consciousness of almost-certainty....”); Model Penal
Code §2.02(7) (“[K]nowledge is established if a person is aware of a high

probability of its existence, unless he actually believes that it does not exist™); id.
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§2.02(b)(i1) (knowledge of criminal consequences entails “practical certainty”); see
also United States v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 445 (1978) (knowledge
requires “practical certainty”); United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 600-01, 614
(1995) (reversing conviction for obstruction of grand jury because defendant did
not actually “kn[o]w that his false statement would be provided to the grand jury”
even though, as dissent noted, defendant testified that it was “his ‘impression’” that
FBI agents would report his false statements to grand jury).

b. The district court erroneously applied
a “reasonable diligence” standard.

The district court also concluded that waiver occurs when there is merely a
“fail[ure] to exercise reasonable diligence in discovering...evidence [of juror
misconduct].” Daugerdas-I/SPA-53. But this is fundamentally inconsistent with
the very concept of waiver, which, as explained, requires knowledge that one is
giving up a right forever.

The district court made no effort to reconcile its application of a diligence
standard with this hornbook law. Instead, it relied principally on out-of-circuit
cases, none of which addresses the fundamental disconnect between waiver and
mere negligence, and most of which were civil cases where jurors were not
actually biased. The court also cited United States v. Bolinger, 837 F.2d 436 (11th
Cir. 1988) (per curiam), which did not apply a diligence standard. Bolinger held

that “where the defendant or defense counsel knows of juror misconduct or bias
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before the verdict is returned but fails to share this knowledge with the court until
after the verdict is announced, the misconduct may not be raised as a ground for a
new trial.” 1d. at 439 (emphasis added). The information communicated to the
defense “did not disclose the full extent” of the juror’s misconduct, but the court
found that the defense had sufficient information to know about the misconduct,
because he was informed during jury deliberations that the juror had told his aunt
he thought the defendant was guilty. Id. at 438-39. By contrast, here the defense
concluded that there was no juror misconduct, so they had no obligation to
“contact[] the district court for instructions.” Id. at 439.

The court’s reliance on Johnson v. Hill, 274 F.2d 110 (8th Cir. 1960), which
McDonough’s footnote cites, was also misplaced. In Hill there was “no showing
of intentional deception on the part of the juror” and the appellant’s “substantial
rights” were not affected. 1d. at 116. And surely the Supreme Court did not intend
by a single citation to jettison the long-established knowing and intelligent waiver
standard. McDonough itself observed that if the relevant information “was known
to respondents or their counsel,” then they could not “later challeng[e] the
composition of the jury when they had chosen not to interrogate [the juror] further
upon receiving an answer which they thought to be factually incorrect.” 464 U.S.
at 550 n.2 (emphasis added); accord Nelson, 277 F.3d at 204 (if waiver of

impartial jury is permissible despite actual bias, “‘intentional relinquishment or
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abandonment of a known right”” would be required (quoting Zerbst, 304 U.S. at
464)).

The district court also was concerned that without a diligence standard
courts could find waiver “solely on actual knowledge, to a 100% certainty.” SPA-
60. That is not so. As this Court has explained, “actual knowledge” of similar
fraud does not require “proof beyond a moral certainty that fraud has been
committed,” but simply that the party “must clearly know, rather than suspect...a
fraud.” Doe, 847 F.2d at 63. That is the only correct standard of waiver.

C. The district court’s fact-findings were clearly erroneous.

Even if the district court applied the correct legal standard, its factual
findings were “directly contrary to the only testimony [and other evidence]
presented,” and therefore must be “set aside” as clearly erroneous. Trans-Orient
Marine Corp. v. Star Trading & Marine, Inc., 925 F.2d 566, 571 (2d Cir. 1991).

First, the district court’s “knowledge”/belief findings cannot be reconciled
with a mountain of evidence conclusively establishing that B&R did not believe,
let alone know, that Juror No. 1 had perjured herself until after they read her letter
to Okula. See generally supra Point I.A.3.

The district court focused its “Knowledge” analysis on the two instances
when Trzaskoma looked into the possibility that Juror No. 1 was the suspended

lawyer, in light of the 2010 suspension order and, later, the Westlaw report. SPA-
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55. But the court ignored the evidence that, during voir dire, B&R considered but
rejected that possibility because of her voir dire testimony. Supra Point [.A.3.a.
Also, the district court relied upon emails from May 12, 2011 discussing what
B&R had found on Conrad over two months earlier, SPA-55-56, but ignored that,
in her final email on the issue during voir dire, Trzaskoma flatly rejected the
possibility of a link between Juror No. 1 and the subject of the suspension order
(A-5531 (“[U]nless Conrad totally lied about her highest level of education, it can’t
be the same person as the suspended lawyer”)). The court also failed to
acknowledge that in the same post-hoc May 12, 2011 exchange, others at B&R
confirmed that they had concluded during voir dire that Juror No. 1 was not the
suspended attorney. Supra p.28.

As for the events following Juror No. 1’s note, the court did not reconcile its
one-sided, hindsight-informed reading of the Westlaw report with the contradictory
portions of the same report appearing to conflate two different people, or the fact
that, as a whole, the portions of the report relating to the disbarred lawyer cannot
be squared with Conrad’s voir dire. Supra pp.29-30. Trzaskoma’s initial “vivid
affirmation of belief” that Juror No. 1 was the suspended attorney was not “based
on” the Westlaw report, as the court suggests. SPA-58. Trzaskoma sent her
“Jesus” email before she read the report herself, based upon paralegal Benhamou’s

email summarizing only selected parts of the report. Also, the court ignored the
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unanimous testimony that, after Trzaskoma actually reviewed the report herself
and conferred with her colleagues, they all rejected the possibility that Juror No. 1
was the suspended lawyer in light of her jury note and her voir dire, which was
confirmed by Shoeman’s and Berke’s testimony.

In short, it was clear error for the district court to cherry-pick evidence about
Trzaskoma’s momentary belief that Juror No. 1 could be a suspended attorney and
ignore the testimony and documents showing that B&R later rejected that
possibility. See, e.g., United States v. Cerna, 603 F.3d 32, 39-40 (2d Cir. 2010)
(finding of knowing waiver was clearly erroneous because district court did “not
explain how it resolved the apparent conflict between the evidence” and “failed to
synthesize the evidence in a manner that accounts for conflicting evidence”).

The district court minimized B&R’s reliance upon Conrad’s sworn voir dire
responses as mere “rationalization” or an “excuse.” SPA-28; SPA-61. But the
judge had instructed the parties not to inquire further beyond those responses, and
his opinion stresses the importance of attorneys’ respect for the “sacred” oath,
SPA-63. Yet after several dramatic pages describing Conrad’s extraordinary
perjury, the district court ignored the testimony of the B&R attorneys that they
found it “inconceivable” anyone would lie so extensively just to become a juror.
(A-5810/353; see also A-5832/375).

To the extent the court purported to find “knowledge” based on B&R’s
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conduct of the post-trial proceedings, SPA-55, it erred. The court criticized B&R
for two alleged misstatements in its post-trial brief; ! resisting discovery of its

work product; a statement at a hearing on July 15, 2011;2?

and not immediately
disclosing all the information it had during the trial. See SPA-56-59. However, as
Professor Stephen Gillers, a prominent legal ethics scholar explained, the two
statements in the firm’s brief were “true as reasonably read;” the July 15 statement
was not false; and the firm had no obligation, early in the post-trial proceedings, to
disclose more information about its limited discoveries during voir dire and after
the “respondeat superior” note. (A-5850-51).

In any event, given the undisputed contemporaneous evidence conclusively
establishing that B&R twice considered and rejected the possibility that the
information they had related to Juror No. 1, their actions long after trial are not
probative of what they knew (or even believed) about Conrad before the verdict.

See, e.g., Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc., 466 U.S. 485, 512 (1984)

(even if testimony is “discredited” that is not ““a sufficient basis” for inferring its

21 The statements were that B&R “had no basis to inquire whether Conrad was
lying in response to each of the Court’s questions” during voir dire (A-4976) and
that Conrad’s letter to the government “caused defendants concern and prompted
them to investigate” (A-4953).

29

22 The B&R attorney said, “we were not aware of the facts that have come to light
(after Conrad’s letter), and then immediately after that made clear that there was
more information and that B&R would provide it in writing. (A-5411; see also A-
5850-51). The subsequent letter disclosed the pertinent facts. (A-5416-37).
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opposite); cf. United States v. Glenn, 312 F.3d 58, 69 (2d Cir. 2002) (post-hoc
“false exculpatory statements” are “insufficient proof